### IN THE

### SUPREME COURT

### STATE OF CALIFORNIA

### S282013

STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	) Fourth Dist. Case No.: E079076
DEPT. OF CORRECTIONS AND	) WCAB Case No.: ADJ71360597
REHABILITATION, legally	)
uninsured, adjusted by STATE	)
COMPENSATION INSURANCE	)
FUND;	) RESPONDENT'S OPENING
·	) BRIEF ON THE MERITS
PETITIONER(S);	)
. //	) AFTER DECISION BY THE
vs.	) COURT OF APPEAL,
	) FOURTH APPELLATE
MICHAEL AYALA, and	) DISTRICT, DIVISION 2
WORKERS' COMPENSATION	)
APPEALS BOARD;	)
,	)
RESPONDENTS.	)
	)
	• *

Michael T. Bannon, Esq.
State Bar No: 246687
FERRONE LAW GROUP
4333 Park Terrace Drive, Suite 200
Westlake Village, California 91361
P: (805) 373-5900; F: (818) 874-1382

### INTRODUCTION

Respondent/Applicant, MICHAEL AYALA, while employed Officer. 12, 2002. Correctional on August as a Petitioner/Defendant, California Department of Corrections & Rehabilitation, sustained injury due to a vicious assault by prison inmates. While the California Worker's Compensation System is primarily a "no fault system" (see Cal. Const. Art. XIV, sec. 4) and is considered "without regard to negligence," the assault suffered by Respondent occurred only because of the serious and willful misconduct of the employer.

To meet the criteria that an employer has engaged serious and willful misconduct under Cal. Labor Code section 4553<sup>1</sup>, the employer's conduct must be "an act deliberately done for the express purpose of injuring another, or intentionally performed either with knowledge that serious injury is a probable result or with a positive, active, wanton, reckless and absolute disregard of its possibly damaging consequences" *Mercer-Fraser Co. v. IAC*, 40 Cal. 2d 102, 120, 251 P.2d 955, 964 (1953). Mere negligence, even gross negligence, is not enough to sustain a finding of willful misconduct. "Rather, the true rule is that serious and willful misconduct is basically the antithesis of negligence." *Id.* 

In the WCAB's Opinion and Decision After Reconsideration dated April 27, 2020, Petitioner's actions were found to meet this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further statutory references are to the Cal. Labor Code, unless otherwise specified.

high standard—the full details of which are so sensitive that it is subject to a protective order. Because of Petitioner's quasicriminal behavior, Respondent was attacked from behind by three inmates and rendered unconscious. He sustained injury to his jaw, back, right shoulder, right knee, and psyche. As a result of Petitioner's actions leading up to that assault, the WCAB increased benefits pursuant to section 4553.

Section 4553 states in relevant part: "the amount of compensation otherwise recoverable shall be increased one-half, together with costs and expenses not to exceed two hundred fifty dollars (\$250), where the employee is injured by reason of the serious and willful misconduct of . . . the employer. . ." (emphasis added). At issue is the "amount of compensation otherwise recoverable" that shall be increased by one-half.

### II

### **QUESTION PRESENTED**

The issue presented to the Court is whether the increase in compensation otherwise recoverable under section 4553 includes the payment of the salary continuation plan Industrial Disability Leave (IDL).

#### III

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"[I]n this case, there are no material facts in dispute; the issue presents a pure question of law. While statutory interpretation claims are reviewable by this court de novo, we accord significant respect to the WCAB's conclusions unless they

are clearly erroneous. (*Department of Rehabilitation v. WCAB (Lauher)* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1281, 1290 [135 Cal. Rptr. 2d 665, 70 P.3d 1076].) We are also bound by the rule that '[a]s with other workers' compensation provisions, statutes regarding temporary disability are construed liberally in favor of granting benefits to injured workers. (§ 3202; *Lauher, supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 1290.)' (*Brooks v. WCAB* (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 1522, 1528 [75 Cal. Rptr. 3d 277])." *Meeks Building Center v. WCAB*, 207 Cal. App. 4th 219, 224, 142 Cal. Rptr. 3d 920, 922.

### IV.

# OVERVIEW OF THE WORKERS' COMEPSANTION SYSTEM

"Section 3600 of the Labor Code provides that an employer is liable for injuries to its employees arising out of and in the course of employment, and section 3601 declares that where the conditions of workers' compensation exist, the right to recover such compensation is the exclusive remedy against an employer for injury or death of an employee." *Johns-Manville Prods. Corp. v. Superior Court*, 27 Cal. 3d 465, 467, 165 Cal. Rptr. 858, 859 (1980).

[T]he legal theory supporting such exclusive remedy provisions is a presumed "compensation bargain," pursuant to which the employer assumes liability for industrial personal injury or death without regard to fault in exchange for limitations on the amount of that liability. The employee is afforded relatively swift and certain payment of benefits to cure or relieve the effects of industrial injury without having to prove fault but, in exchange, gives up the wider

range of damages potentially available in tort. [citations omitted.] The function of the exclusive remedy provisions is to give efficacy to the theoretical "compensation bargain." *Shoemaker v. Myers*, 52 Cal. 3d 1, 16, 276 Cal. Rptr. 303, 311 (1990).

Part of that "bargain," which includes those limitations on tort recovery, necessarily contemplates a system designed to extend benefits to injured workers rather than limit them. This intent is codified in **section 3202**: "Division [4] and Division 5 (commencing with Section 6300) shall be liberally construed by the courts with the purpose of extending their benefits for the protection of persons injured in the course of their employment." In essence, the system provides a limited recovery, but the benefits that are available are to be liberally provided.

The three main benefits that fall under, and are conferred by, the workers' compensation system are: (1) medical treatment for the injury, (2) compensation in the form of Temporary Disability ("TD") benefits while the injured worker is off work recovering from the injury, and (3) compensation in the form of Permanent Disability ("PD") benefits for any permanent residuals of the injury. There is no question the section 4553 increase applies to these benefits.

However, Respondent did not receive TD benefits. Rather, as a State Correctional Officer, Respondent received compensation via a salary continuation plan known as Industrial Disability Leave ("IDL"), which was "enhanced" ("E-IDL") because of the inmate assault. This benefit is paid in lieu of the

standard TD benefit that non-State employees would otherwise receive while off work during a period of temporary disability.

The difference in value for the relevant TD period is significant. E-IDL is equivalent to the injured employee's net take home salary on the date of occurrence of injury, whereas TD is payable at two-thirds salary with a statutory cap based on date of injury. See Gov. Code section 19871.2 and Labor Code section 4453, respectively. The statutory cap on TD reduces high-wage earner's TD benefits below two-thirds (e.g. at the statutory cap of \$490/wk for a date of injury in 2002, any wage earner making above \$735/wk will end up with less than 2/3 wages). In comparison, E-IDL remains at the injured worker's net take home salary. Therefore, the 4553 increase will be affected depending on what benefit is chosen to increase.

#### V.

### **ARGUMENT**

# A. "Compensation" includes the payment of "Aggregate Disability Benefits."

Section 3207 sets forth the definition of "compensation," stating: "Compensation' means compensation under this division and includes every benefit or payment conferred by this division upon an injured employee, or in the event of his or her death, upon his or her dependents, without regard to negligence" (emphasis added). "This division" refers to Division 4 of the Labor Code.

Within Division 4, sections 4650 through 4657 describe the Temporary Disability (TD) benefit. This establishes the TD benefit as a form of compensation. Specifically, **section 4653** states: "If the injury causes temporary total disability, the disability payment is two-thirds of the average weekly earnings during the period of such disability, consideration being given to the ability of the injured employee to compete in an open labor market." The purpose of this TD benefit is to act as "a substitute for lost wages during a period of temporary incapacity from working." *Brooks v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.*, 161 Cal. App. 4th 1522, 1533, 75 Cal. Rptr. 3d 277, 281 (5th Dist. 2008) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

**Section 4650** clarifies the timing and nature of payments made in workers' compensation claims. Relative to the TD benefit, section 4650 provides:

(a) If an injury causes temporary disability, the first payment of temporary disability indemnity shall be made not later than 14 days after knowledge of the injury and disability, on which date all indemnity then due shall be paid, unless liability for the injury is earlier denied.

. .

(d) If any indemnity payment is not made timely as required by this section, the amount of the late payment shall be increased 10 percent and shall be paid, without application, to the employee, unless the employer continues the employee's wages under a salary continuation plan, as defined in subdivision (g).

. .

(g) For purposes of this section, "salary continuation plan" means a plan that meets both of the following requirements:

- (1) The plan is paid for by the employer pursuant to statute, collective bargaining agreement, memorandum of understanding, or established employer policy.
- (2) The plan provides the employee on his or her regular payday with salary not less than the employee is entitled to receive pursuant to statute, collective bargaining agreement, memorandum of understanding, or established employer policy and not less than the employee would otherwise receive in indemnity payments.

(emphasis added.)

Section 4650(d) makes clear that salary continuation plans, like IDL, are paid in lieu of the standard TD benefit "conferred by" Division 4, which is why there is no penalty for a failure to pay TD benefits. The obligations under Division 4 are deemed satisfied with a payment of a benefit referenced "under" Division 4 yet that is not "conferred by" Division 4.

Further, the TD benefit is framed in terms of "aggregate disability benefits." Section 4656 provides for the maximum period an injured worker can collect TD benefits, with all subsections employing the terms "aggregate disability benefits" to describe the payment of TD benefits. Each subsection applies to different time periods, but the pertinent words "aggregate disability benefits" remain consistent throughout. In the present case, subsection (b) applies, and states: "Aggregate disability payments for a single injury occurring on or after January 1, 1979, and prior to April 19, 2004, causing temporary partial disability shall not extend for more than 240 compensable weeks within a period of five years from the date of the injury."

As a result, it is clear the TD benefit is both "under" and "conferred by" Division 4. Therefore, the TD benefit fits squarely within the definition of "compensation" under section 3207.

Herein lies the wrinkle: as a salary continuation plan, IDL has been held to be included within the meaning of "aggregate disability benefits" under section 4656 pursuant to **Brooks v. WCAB**, supra. "Aggregate disability benefits" is utilized to define the TD benefit conferred by Division 4, which means that "aggregate disability benefits" are a form of "compensation" pursuant to section 3207. However, IDL is not "conferred by" Division 4, so it does not meet the strict definition of "compensation" under section 3207. Therefore, IDL cannot be said to be included in the meaning of "aggregate disability benefits." This creates conflict between compensation otherwise recoverable via IDL versus "compensation" under section 3207.

If IDL is deemed compensation under Division 4, as **Brooks** has declared, then an award of section 4553 benefits based on the IDL benefit is clearly warranted. However, if IDL is not deemed compensation under Division 4 due to IDL not being "conferred by" Division 4, as **Ayala** has declared, then the question becomes whether the payment of a salary continuation plan is payment of compensation at all. If it is not compensation, the implication is that there nothing to increase pursuant to section 4553. Such a finding, though, would be catastrophic to the very purpose of section 4553. It essentially lets an employer off the hook for an increase in compensation.

# B. Legislative intent makes clear that IDL "means temporary disability as defined in Division 4."

states that IDL isTD for **Brooks** purposes Meanwhile, Avala IDLcompensation. states However, neither Brooks nor Ayala compensation at all. challenge that IDL is a salary continuation plan pursuant to section 4650(g). In fact, the State of California's Department of Human Resources website admits as much:

Established by the Berryhill Total Compensation Act of 1975, IDL is a salary continuation program specifically designed as an alternative benefit program to TD. The legal authority for this program is found in Government Code Sections 19869 -To qualify for IDL benefits, an injured 19877.1. employee must be an active member of the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) or the California State Teachers' Retirement System (CalSTRS). CalHR, Workers' Compensation (updated 12/14/2016, last accessed 2/1/2024) https://www.calhr.ca.gov/state-hrprofessionals/Pages/benefits-administration-manualworkers'-compensation.aspx.

The first prong of section 4650(g) is satisfied by the statutory scheme that created the IDL benefit (it also happens to be the subject of a Memorandum of Understanding with Bargaining Unit 6). Further reviewing that scheme, the interchangeability of IDL and TD is seen. **Government Code section 19870** states in relevant part:

(a) "Industrial disability leave" means temporary disability as defined in Divisions 4 (commencing with Section 3201) and 4.5 (commencing with Section 6100) of the Labor Code and includes any period in which the disability is

permanent and stationary and the disabled employee is undergoing vocational rehabilitation.

(b) "Full pay" means the gross base salary earnable by the employee and subject to retirement contribution if he had not vacated his position. (emphasis added.)

The Legislature has declared its intent in this statute—IDL means TD. This intent creates, at best, a direct indication that IDL is compensation under Division 4, or, at worst, a strong inference that it should be treated as if it were compensation under Division 4.

Similar to the TD benefit, **Government Code section 19871** establishes that the IDL benefit is "full pay . . . not to exceed 22 working days of disability. . . . Thereafter, the payment shall be two-thirds of full pay."

In addition, **Government Code section 19871.2** establishes the Enhanced IDL benefit, which is paid:

When an excluded employee is temporarily disabled for more than 22 consecutive working days by an injury or type of injury designated by the director as qualifying an employee for the benefits of this section, he or she shall receive an enhanced industrial disability leave benefit. The enhanced benefit shall be equivalent to the injured employee's net take home salary on the date of occurrence of injury.

These two sections now satisfy the second prong of section 4650(g). As such, IDL is a salary continuation plan that falls under Division 4.

Further clarifying that IDL is to be treated as TD, Government Code section 19872(a) states: "(t)he disabled

employee shall not receive temporary disability indemnity or sick leave or annual leave with pay for any period for which he or she receives industrial disability leave." Overall, there is no ambiguity—for all intents and purposes, IDL is TD. This is evidenced by the offsetting of TD benefits by the payment of IDL benefits under section 19872(a). Coupled with the direct mention of salary continuation plans in section 4650 within Division 4, the Legislature has unequivocally declared IDL is a form of compensation under Division 4.

Enter **Brooks v. WCAB**. It should come as no surprise that **Brooks** followed the Legislative declaration that IDL means TD under Division 4 by interpreting "aggregate disability benefits" within section 4656, as including IDL: "the statutory scheme is clear," and that "[b]ecause IDL is statutorily defined as the equivalent of TD, then the two-year limitation under section 4656, subdivision (c)(1), necessarily must apply to both IDL and TD." However, **Brooks** made no attempt to reconcile the conundrum that the statutory definition of "compensation" is limited to benefits under, and conferred by, Division 4, which was the singular focus of the *Ayala* court. By *Ayala's* rationale, IDL is not compensation because it is not a benefit conferred by Division 4. However, the *Ayala* court fails to adequately address the degree of interplay between IDL and TD, as well as the workers' compensation system's proclivity to contemplate benefits outside of its system. The mere reference to salary continuation plans within Division 4 makes clear that Division 4 contemplates benefits outside of its division.

# C. The WCAB takes into account compensation outside of its system pursuant Labor Code section 4909.

An inherent conflict exists between section 3207's strict definition of "compensation" to include only those benefits conferred by Division 4 and the recognition that salary continuation plans are a form of compensation "under" Division 4. However, there is no question that the workers' compensation system routinely considers benefits that are otherwise recoverable outside of its system as constituting compensation within the system. This is seen in **Labor Code section 4909**, which states:

Any payment, allowance, or benefit received by the injured employee during the period of his incapacity, or by his dependents in the event of his death, which by the terms of this division was not then due and payable or when there is any dispute or question concerning the right to compensation, shall not, in the absence of any agreement, be an admission of liability for compensation on the part of the employer, but any such payment, allowance, or benefit may be taken into account by the appeals board in fixing the amount of the compensation to be paid. The acceptance of any such payment, allowance, or benefit shall not operate as a waiver of any right or claim which the employee or his dependents has against the employer (emphasis added).

The principle is rather basic—a double recovery is to be avoided. If an injured worker receives some sort of compensation outside the workers' compensation system that is intended to be compensation under the system, then the legal obligation to pay compensation under the system is deemed satisfied. **See: Herrera v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.**, 71 Cal. 2d 254, 455

P.2d 425, 78 Cal. Rptr. 497 (1969) (citing Stan v. Cal. Golf Club & Associated Indem. Corp., 8 Cal. Comp. Cases 209, 1943 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 196 (WCAB 1943) ("We should not now, without anything in evidence to indicate that the payment of wages was intended as a gift or gratuity, contend that such payment was not compensation and that the employer or his representative is entitled to no credit therefor."). It would be patently unreasonable for an employer to voluntarily pay full salary to an injured employee to then only be subsequently found liable to pay an additional benefit under the workers' compensation system. Hence, the compensation paid by the employer is credited as a form of compensation otherwise recovered under the workers' compensation system. Section 4909, itself, does not confer any benefit or payment, but it does act as the vehicle to consider benefits as compensation within the system.

An example of this is seen in *Appleby v. WCAB*, 27 Cal. App. 4th 184, 32 Cal. Rptr. 2d 375, (2d Dist. 1994), wherein the *Appleby* court found Pacific Bell's private benefits plan to be "of the same general character" as workers' compensation benefits that were "voluntarily" paid by the employer. The court relied upon the rationale in *Ott v. WCAB*, 118 Cal. App. 3d 912, 173 Cal. Rptr. 648, (1981) to support the right to credit. *See also: Sea-Land Serv. v. WCAB*, 14 Cal. 4th 76, 86, 58 Cal. Rptr. 2d 190, 195 (1996) (holding a credit for LHWCA disability benefits must be calculated on a dollar-for-dollar basis, regardless of

category, against a claim under the Cal. Workers' Compensation Act).

The unstated rationale of *Appleby* is that, by granting the credit, the plan satisfies the payment of compensation under, and conferred by, Division 4. The problem is that no formal "compensation" has technically been paid within the meaning of section 3207, as the private benefits plan at issue in *Appleby* is certainly not under, or conferred by, Division 4. Unfortunately, *Appleby* does not account for this discrepancy. However, the implication is clear. Compensation paid outside of the workers' compensation system is deemed as payment of compensation under the system.

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