Case No. S282013

**In The Supreme Court
State of California**

MICHAEL AYALA,
Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS
AND REHABILITATION, Legally Uninsured, and STATE
COMPENSATION INSURANCE FUND, Adjusting Agency, and
THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION APPEALS BOARD OF THE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
Respondents.

WCAB Case No. ADJ71360597
Civil Case No. E079076
Hon. Michael J. Raphael;
In The Court of Appeal of the State of California
Fourth Appellate District, Division Two

**ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF THE CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS AND
REHABILITATION**

JASMINE DOVLATYAN, Chief Counsel
MARK BEATTY, Deputy Chief Counsel
MARY R. HUCKABAA, Assistant Chief Counsel

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

ARGUMENT

THE PLAIN MEANING RULE CONTROLS THE OUTCOME IN THIS CASE

In interpreting a statute, courts and administrative tribunals must adhere to the plain meaning of the statute in order to carry out the intent of the legislators as closely as possible. See e.g., *Equillon Enterprises v. Consumer Cause, Inc.* (2002) 29 Cal. 4th 53. In doing so, Courts must use the common English dictionary meanings of the words in the statute. Courts may not ignore a definition expressly provided in the statutory scheme, or arbitrarily adopt other definitions located outside the particular statutory scheme, unless the statute expressly adopts such definitions. The Board in this case impermissibly did both – AYALA is asking this Honorable Court to do the same.

"Interpretation of governing statutes or application of law to undisputed facts is a question of law that we decide de novo." *State Comp. Ins. Fund v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd. (Garcia)* (2012) 204 Cal.App.4th 766, 771. “[W]e give weight to [the Board's] interpretation of workers’ compensation statutes unless they are

clearly erroneous or unauthorized.” *Brodie v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2007) 40 Cal. 4th 1313, 1331.

ENHANCED INDUSTRIAL DISABILITY LEAVE BENEFITS DO NOT CONSTITUTE “COMPENSATION OTHERWISE RECOVERABLE” WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 4553.

Labor Code Section 4553 provides, in relevant part:

The amount of compensation otherwise recoverable shall be *increased one-half, together* with costs and expenses not to exceed two hundred fifty dollars (\$250), where the employee is injured by reason of the serious and willful misconduct of any of the following:

(a) The employer, or his managing representative ...

Section 4553 (Emphasis Added.)

Labor Code Section 3207 defines the term “compensation” as follows:

“Compensation” means *compensation under this division* [i.e. Division 4, “Workers Compensation Insurance”] and includes every benefit or payment *conferred by this division* upon an injured employee, or in the event of his or her death, upon his or her dependents, without regard to negligence.

Section 3207 (Emphasis Added.)

“Section 4553 cannot be read without reference to section 3207, which defines ‘compensation.’” *Ferguson v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 1613, 1619. In *Ferguson*, the Court of Appeal held that the 50% increase of “compensation otherwise recoverable” for serious and willful misconduct must be based on the entire compensation award as defined in Section 3207

based on all Division 4 categories of “compensation,” provided that the total amount does not exceed the amount necessary to fully compensate the worker. *Id.* at 1616. The Court held that “compensation” included indemnity and non-indemnity compensation (such as medical benefits). *Ferguson*, 33 Cal. App. 4th 1613, 1616. See also *Adams v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1976) 18 Cal. 3d 226, 231 [medical-legal fees are “compensation” for purposes of calculating Labor Code Sec. 5814 penalties.]

EIDL v. TD

Industrial Disability Benefits (“IDL”) and Enhanced Industrial Disability Leave (“EIDL”) benefits are not conferred by the Labor Code; they are conferred by the Government Code. See Gov. Code Secs. 19870 et seq.² Labor Code Sections 4800 et seq., which provide enhanced payments in lieu of temporary disability for specified law enforcement officers (such as local police and California Highway Patrol officers), do not expressly include correctional officers, such as Mr. Ayala here, among the officers specified in the Labor Code. See Labor Code Secs. 4800 – 4850.

² As Judge Hughes noted in the Report and Recommendation, “The legislature considered and provided enhanced payments in lieu of temporary disability for specified employees in Division Four. (See Labor Code section 4800 – 4850). *The legislature did not include correctional officers in the enumerated categories of employees that were entitled to enhanced salary in lieu of temporary disability in Division Four. There is no specific reference to compensation or benefits provided under the Government Code, for correctional officers included in Labor Code section 3207.*” See Exh. 4, p.3, Par. 2. (Emphasis Added.)

Nor is there anything in Labor Code Section 4553, or elsewhere in the Labor Code, that includes EIDL benefits within the definition of the term “compensation” for purposes of the Labor Code.

Government Code Sec. 19871 provides that except in certain situations not applicable here:

... when a state officer or employee is temporarily disabled by illness or injury arising out of and in the course of state employment, he or she shall become entitled, regardless of his or her period of service, to receive industrial disability leave and payments for a period *not exceeding 52 weeks* within two years from the first day of disability. These payments *shall be in the amount of the employees (sic.) full pay less withholding* based on his or her exemptions in effect on the date of his or her disability for federal income taxes, state income taxes, and social security taxes not to exceed 2 working days of disability subject to Section 19875. *Thereafter, the payment shall be two-thirds of full pay. ...”*

Gov. Code Sec. 19871 (Emphasis Added.)

Thus, the amount of EIDL benefits is the amount of the applicant’s net salary after taxes for the statutory period, and two-thirds of full pay thereafter. By contrast, temporary disability (TD) is two-thirds of applicant’s average weekly earnings subject to maximum TD limits. Labor Code Secs. 4653-4654 and 4453. When the temporary disability is partial (rather than total), and the applicant is able to work a compatible job and/or fewer hours, TD is calculated based on a wage-loss basis, compared to applicant’s regular salary. Secs. 4654 and 4453.

NO LEGAL AUTHORITY PERMITS A LEAP FROM THE LABOR CODE TO THE GOVERNMENT CODE TO CREATE A CONTRARY DEFINITION OF “COMPENSATION.”

The central flaw in the Board’s decision in this case was that the Board ignored the existing definition of “compensation” in the Labor Code and made an unsupported leap from the Labor Code to the Government Code to adopt a contrary definition of “compensation” into the Labor Code. This is what AYALA is asking this Court to do. This is completely contrary to well-established rules of statutory interpretation, the plain meaning rule, as well as case law precedents interpreting the same Labor Code sections at issue here.

The Labor Code section 3207 expressly states – *not once, but twice*, that “compensation” must be conferred by Division 4 of the Labor Code:

“Compensation” means *compensation under this division* and includes every benefit or payment *conferred by this division...*”

Labor Code Sec. 3207 (Emphasis Added.)

If the form of payment is not in Division 4, then it is not “compensation” within the meaning of Sections 4553 and 3207. Both the statutory scheme, and the existing case law interpreting it, make this point abundantly clear.

Had the Legislature intended to include EIDL benefits in the definition of “compensation” in Labor Code Sec. 3207, it certainly could have done so – but clearly chose NOT to do so. Similarly, had the Legislature intended to include EIDL benefits in Section 4553 pertaining to the 50% increase of “compensation” for Serious

and Willful Misconduct increase, the Legislature could have done so – but here again, chose not to do so.

Applicant is asking this Honorable Court to ignore the expressly stated legislative definitions in the Labor Code, and to legislate a new definition by arbitrarily adopting a special class of benefits conferred by the Government Code into the existing definition of “compensation” in the Labor Code. Applicant is essentially asking this Honorable Court to legislate from the bench. Separation of powers constitutionally prohibits such an action.

APPLICANT’S RELIANCE ON BROOKS V. WCAB IS MISPLACED.

Brooks v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd. (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 1522, on which applicant heavily relies, involved a completely different legal issue: namely, whether the maximum 1-year IDL period should be included in, or be additional to, the 2-year limit for aggregate TD benefits. *Id.* at 1536. The Court in *Brooks* concluded that “the two-year limitation under section 4656 incorporates benefits paid under the IDL provisions,” and that “a state employee is entitled to only 104 weeks of temporary disability indemnity, whether consisting of IDL, enhanced IDL, or TD...” *Brooks*, 161 Cal.App.4th at 1536-1537. (Citations Omitted.) Note that there is no such incorporation of IDL here, in addition to a completely different Labor Code section and legal issue being addressed by the *Brooks* court.

Significantly, Labor Code Section 4656, which is the subject of interpretation by the *Brooks* court, addresses the total duration

of “aggregate disability” – *not* “aggregate compensation.” Indeed, Section 4656 is entitled, “Aggregate disability payments for single injury causing temporary disability; number of compensable weeks,” and provides for a different maximum period for Temporary Disability payments based on date of injury (240 weeks versus 104 weeks). See Labor Code Sec. 4656 (a) – (c).

As such, the *Brooks* court was not limited by Section 3207’s definition of “compensation” as conferred by Division 4 of the Labor Code, and was free to include the one year of IDL benefits applicant received in the aggregate disability period of 104 weeks for TD. *Brooks*, 161 Cal.App.4th at 1536-1537.

Therefore, *Brooks* does not lend support to applicant’s argument that S & W benefits under Section 4553 should be based on IDL, as opposed to TD.

Finally, contrary to AYALA’s claim, *Brooks* did not hold that IDL was “compensation” under Division 4 of the Labor Code, or for purposes of Section 4553. (p. 11, Respondent’s Opening Brief on the Merits: “If IDL is deemed compensation under Division 4, *as Brooks has declared ...*”). This is clearly a misstatement of the holding in *Brooks*. Rather, as Mr. **Ayala clearly concedes**, “IDL is not conferred by Division 4, so it does not meet the strict definition of ‘compensation’ under section 3207. Therefore, IDL cannot be said to be included in the meaning of ‘aggregate disability benefits.’” (p. 11, Respondent’s Opening Brief on the Merits.)

As applicant has conceded the issue, the decision of the Court of Appeal should be affirmed as is.

THE WCAB HAS NO JURISDICTION TO AWARD IDL/EIDL BENEFITS.

In its decision on reconsideration, the Board in this case conceded that it lacks jurisdiction to award EIDL benefits. (Exhibit 1, p. 13, Finding of Fact No. 2). Yet the Board then awarded applicant a 50% increase in “compensation” per Section 4553 “to be calculated based on the enhanced IDL (Exhibit 1, p. 13, Finding of Fact No. 3). The Board’s decision is internally inconsistent and logically flawed – for how could the Board award a 50% increase based on EIDL when it conceded that it has no jurisdiction to award EIDL?

The proposition that the Board lacks jurisdiction to award EIDL benefits is black letter law. See *Cal. v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd. (Ellison)* (1996) 44 Cal. App. 4th 128, 136-138. The California Supreme Court has repeatedly stated that ***the WCAB “is a tribunal of limited jurisdiction, with no powers beyond those conferred upon it*** by section 21 of article XX of the state Constitution and the provisions of the Workmen’s Compensation, Insurance and Safety Act, now codified in the Labor Code (§§3201 et seq.)” *State Comp. Ins. Fund v. Industrial Accident Commission (Hansen)* (1942) 20 Cal. 2d 264, 266. (Emphasis Added.) See also *Horst v. Industrial Accident Commission* (1920) 184 Cal. 180, 192.

The California Constitution enabled legislation to create a “no-fault liability” on the part of employers to compensate their employees for any injury arising out of, and sustained during the course of their employment. However, that liability does not authorize the creation of a liability for anything other than

compensation. *Horst v. Industrial Accident Commission* (1920) 184 Cal. 180, 192. For instance, the WCAB does not have jurisdiction to award punitive damages or general damages for pain and suffering. *Horst*, 184 Cal. at 192. These damages are reserved to courts of general jurisdiction, and are not included in the definition of “compensation” in the Labor Code.

Turning to IDL benefits specifically, IDL is a statutorily created alternative to temporary disability indemnity for a select group of state employees pursuant to Government Code Sections 19869 – 19877.1. To qualify for IDL benefits, an employee must be eligible for workers’ compensation benefits and be an active member of the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) or the California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CALTRS).

Nothing in the Labor Code adopts these benefits as a category of “compensation” that the WCAB is permitted to award. Rather, a qualifying employee’s first level of administrative remedy for claims involving IDL benefits lies with the employing State Department (or agency). Thereafter, complaints involving IDL or other benefits involving leave administration under the Government Code, **must be appealed to the Department of Personnel Administration (“DPA).** *Brooks v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2008) 161 Cal. App. 4th 1522, 1529. (Citing to Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, §599.768.) See also *Cal. v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd. (Ellison)* (1996) 44 Cal. App. 4th 128, 136-138.

Indeed, the Board has previously held in other panel decisions that it does not have the power to award IDL benefits.

See e.g. *Blankenship v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1986) 51 Cal. Comp. Cases 38, 39.³

Thus, an additional problem with interpreting the term “compensation otherwise recoverable” under Section 4553 so as to include IDL/EIDL benefits conferred by the Government Code, is that doing so creates another contradictory and absurd result: namely, that the WCAB, which has no jurisdiction to award IDL/EIDL benefits, would be able to adjudicate (and in this case,

³ Although panel decisions of the WCAB are not binding precedent, the Fourth District in *Ellison* found the Board’s interpretation persuasive in *Blankenship*, and adopted it as part of its rationale for the holding . *Ellison*, 44 Cal. App. 4th at 140-141. In *Blankenship*, the Board held that it had “no jurisdiction to award [IDL] benefits, which are governed by the Government Code, other than to find that the applicant is entitled to indemnity during a period of temporary disability ...; there would be jurisdiction to impose an unreasonable delay penalty if the applicant is not receiving any indemnity ...; [and] jurisdiction over state employees’ [IDL] program rests with the Department of Personnel Administration under Government Code section 19849.11.” *Ellison*, 44 Cal. App. 4th at 140-141 (Citing to *Blankenship*, 51 Cal. Comp. Cases 38.)

did adjudicate) such benefits, thereby encroaching upon the powers of the Department of Personnel Administration, among other incongruous and absurd results.

In sum, the Petitioner in this case is asking this Court to contradict existing precedents on all of these issues, as discussed above (*Ellison, Ferguson and Brooks*, among others), as well as to overlook the Constitutionally circumscribed jurisdiction of the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board.

The sound decision of the Court of Appeal should thus be affirmed by this Court in toto.

INTERPRETING “COMPENSATION” TO INCLUDE EIDL BENEFITS WOULD BE TANTAMOUNT TO AWARDED PUNITIVE DAMAGES AGAINST A STATE AGENCY, WHICH IS PROHIBITED.

“The workers’ compensation system only authorizes payment of ‘compensation’ for work-related injuries and does not authorize punitive damages.” *Ferguson*, 33 Cal. App. 4th at 1621 (citing *State Dept. of Corrections v. Workmen’s Comp. Appeals Bd. (Jensen)* (1971) 5 Cal. 3d 885, 888-889).

Additionally, Government Code Section 818 provides:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a public entity is not liable for damages awarded under Section 3294 of the Civil Code *or other damages imposed primarily for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant.*

Gov. Code Sec. 818 (Emphasis Added.)

In *Jensen*, supra, the California Supreme Court held that serious and willful benefits under Section 4553 are not intended to

punish the defendant, but to compensate the applicant more fully. *Id.* at 891. However, the High Court in *Jensen* was not faced with the issue of awarding EIDL as the measure of the 50% increase of compensation, unlike in this case.

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